United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms
Type all entries—complete applicable sections

1. Name

historic QUALITY HILL HISTORIC DISTRICT
and or common (East Main Street, Jackson Square)

2. Location

street & number East Main Street

city, town Clarksburg

county Harrison

city, town ________ vicinity of ________ state ________ country ________

city, town ________ vicinity of ________ state ________ country ________

3. Classification

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Category</th>
<th>Ownership</th>
<th>Status</th>
<th>Present Use</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>district</td>
<td>public</td>
<td>occupied</td>
<td>museum</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>building(s)</td>
<td>private</td>
<td>unoccupied</td>
<td>commercial</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>structure</td>
<td>both</td>
<td>work in progress</td>
<td>educational</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>site</td>
<td>Public Acquisition</td>
<td>in process</td>
<td>entertainment</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>object</td>
<td>N/A in process</td>
<td>being considered</td>
<td>government</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

4. Owner of Property

name Multiple Ownership

street & number


5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Harrison County Courthouse

street & number Main and Third Streets

city, town Clarksburg

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

title Quality Hill Historic District Survey has this property been determined eligible? yes X no

date 1984-85

depository for survey records Historic Preservation Unit, Department of Culture and History

city, town Charleston

state West Virginia
The Quality Hill Historic District is linear in shape, running from the East Main Street Bridge at the western end to the Goff Plaza Bridge at the eastern end, with nearly all the buildings facing directly onto East Main. It is located between the town's primary commercial district on the west and a newer (1920-1960) residential neighborhood on the east. The district is remarkably intact and quite cohesive in both a physical and architectural sense, managing to retain its high degree of integrity largely as a result of its geographical position, somewhat isolated from the rest of Clarksburg by Elk Creek, which meanders in a kind of semicircle around three sides of the district, on the east, west, and south, and situated on the rise and crest of a hill which dips sharply towards the creek at the east and west ends. On the north the district is bounded by Pike Street, opened in the 1830's as the route of the Northwestern Turnpike, which ran from Winchester, Virginia, through Clarksburg and on to Parkersburg and the Ohio River.

The area as a whole exudes a certain ambience created in part by its outstanding architectural character, exhibiting a range of the more popular styles prevalent in late 19th and early 20th century America. Most of the buildings in the district date from 1880-1910, although the oldest still standing, the Burton Despard house, was built around 1850 and the latest contributing structure dates from 1924. The buildings included in the district are primarily residential, although several of the houses have been converted to commercial use while retaining most of their original external features. The dominant architectural styles featured in the Quality Hill district represent the major periods of construction on East Main Street, although West Virginia's isolation from the rest of the country, caused by the vagaries of geography and topography, which slowed development of the state as a whole, contributed to a discrepancy in the length of popularity enjoyed by various architectural styles. In the Quality Hill district, as in most parts of West Virginia, a given style will generally occur approximately five to ten years later than in other parts of the country and will continue to be built for a decade or so longer.

The earliest buildings on East Main Street, dating from before 1880, are primarily Italianate; those built between 1885 and the turn of the century are chiefly Queen Anne in style; and those constructed after 1900 fall into one of the revival categories, particularly the Colonial Revival style. Other styles represented in the buildings of the district are Victorian Romanesque (a particularly fine example), Classic Revival or Beaux-Arts, Victorian Gothic, Georgian Revival, Craftsman, and Bungalow, making the district in effect a representation in microcosm of the development of American residential architectural styles. Most of the buildings in the district have undergone minimal alteration over the years, and several are virtually untouched. Those that have been modified were altered fairly early, most before 1924, thus making the alterations a contributing factor in the overall character of the district. Most of the buildings have also been maintained over the years, and are in excellent condition and repair.

Several pivotal buildings serve as anchors and help to define the boundaries of the district. The Maxwell-Duncan house at the southwest end of the street is a remarkably intact late Italianate structure erected by State Supreme Court Justice Edwin Maxwell and designed by the Philadelphia architectural firm of Sloan and Balderston, who also designed Clarksburg's Odd Fellows Building and the West Main Street home of Edwin Maxwell’s law partner, Nathan Goff, Jr. The Burton Despard house at the southeast end of the street is the oldest extant building in the district, built in an early Italianate style by Edwin Maxwell's law partner and one of Clarksburg's most prominent and influential residents. The impressive Robinson-Jackson house on the northwest end is an imposing Classic Revival building, the only example of this style in the
district, built by Paul Robinson, vice president of Union National Bank, on the site of John George Jackson's 1801 mansion. The Robinson house is now owned, appropriately enough, by a member of the Jackson family. In the middle of the district, on the north side of East Main, is the Victorian Romanesque brick and sandstone residence of Virgil Highland, still owned by the Highland family. This dwelling was designed by the well-known Clarksburg firm of Holmboe and Rafferty, who also designed many of the public buildings in central West Virginia, including many of the county courthouses. Finally, at the northeast end is the late Italianate dwelling erected by James Clifford, built of brick kilned on the property and completed by 1880. This was the first building to occupy the site of the Jackson orchard and Leib’s corral and the first house to be built on the north side of the street after the Jackson holdings were broken up.

With the exception of the above-mentioned architectural firms, the designers of other Quality Hill buildings could not be positively identified. Certain of the buildings were obviously carpenter-designed but others appear to be the work of qualified architects. One architect whose work may be represented in the district is Charles Hickman, a Clarksburg architect who began his career as an apprentice carpenter, opening his own architectural office in 1878. Hickman was responsible for the town's former post office and federal building (now the City Hall), the Science Hall at West Virginia University, the railroad bridge across the Ohio River at Bellaire, and Clarksburg's Merchants Bank, now the Clarksburg Community Bank, among other projects. "Master carpenter and builder" John Cain, so named by the 1876 Clarksburg Telegram, may also have had a hand in the design and construction of several of the houses in the district; the likeliest candidates are the former residences of Nathan J. Coplin, George Bastable, Abraham Smith, and William Freeman.

Three houses which would certainly have contributed to the historical and architectural significance of the district are now gone, all demolished in the 1970's. The dwellings built by Charles Hornor and Charles Lamberd at the western end of the street were razed by the Knights of Columbus when they moved to new headquarters and destroyed by a fire, respectively. The Joseph L. Carr home and physician's office, which today would be the second oldest building in the Quality Hill Historic District, was purchased in 1978 by the adjacent Davis-Weaver Funeral Home which demolished the Carr residence to make way for a larger parking lot. The funeral home itself is located in the former Burton Despard house, now the oldest building in the district.

Description of Individual Buildings

Parcel 28-29: Maxwell-Duncan House, 141 East Main Street (pivotal)

Italianate, built c. 1872. Two and half story red brick with asphalt shingle hip roof and rough sandstone foundation covered with stucco. Long narrow windows in brick segmental relieving arches with narrow brick belt course between second story and roof. Wide entablature with large scroll-like brackets. One-story three-bay front porch with wide entablature and large
elaborate brackets and slender lathe-turned columns. Projecting pavilion on west front with fanlight set in attic story. Gabled dormers on east and west sides of roof. Detached carriage house of dark brown clapboard with slate roof, two stories with small apartment or servants' quarters on second floor; first floor intact with stalls for horses and spaces for buggies.

Built by attorney Edwin Maxwell, on property acquired from the heirs of John James Allen, son-in-law of John George Jackson and originally the site of Jackson's grandfather's "stone house." Maxwell was a law partner of Burton Despard and Nathan Goff, Jr., and in 1863 was elected to the West Virginia State Senate where he was influential in the formulation of early state legislation. He also served in the House of Delegates, as state attorney general, and later became a justice of the State Supreme Court. After his death his heirs sold the East Main Street residence to George Lee Duncan, cashier of Lowndes Bank and later president of the West Virginia Bank. In 1924 Duncan played host to United States Senator Thomas J. Walsh of Montana, in Clarksburg to deliver the official speech of notification of nomination to native son John W. Davis, nominating Davis as Democratic candidate for President of the United States. Still owned by the Duncan family, and virtually unchanged.

Architecturally, the house is a good example of late Italianate, a style which enjoyed an extended period of popularity in West Virginia. Designed by the Philadelphia architectural firm of Sloan and Balderston, which was also responsible for the design of Clarksburg's Odd Fellows Building and the West Main Street home of Maxwell's law partner, Nathan Goff, Jr.
7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

of roof and porch features molded fascia and large modillion-style brackets. Large stained glass window on second story west side.

Built by John O. Brooks on property originally belonging to John James Allen and John George Jackson; house later purchased by J. M. Carskadon, one of the organizers of the Palace Furniture Company, one of the largest furniture retailers in central West Virginia for over 75 years.

Parcel 32: Williams-Cather House, 163 East Main Street (contributing)

Queen Anne, built c. 1885. Massive two and a half story asymmetrical red brick with gable roof covered with asphalt shingles and a foundation of dressed stone. Various projections, dormers, and early rear additions. Semi-circular one-story front porch beneath one and a half story corner tower sided with wooden fish scale shingles painted white. Conical metal roof on tower with large metal finial. Dormers also sided with wooden shingles. Windows are of varying sizes and shapes, several set with leaded glass. Small one-story red brick dependency at rear with two entrances.

Built by Elliott Williams on property originally belonging to the Reverend George Towers of the Randolph Academy and purchased by Williams in 1884 from John Bassel, attorney for the B&O Railroad, and sold in 1900 to Hugh Jarvis, incorporator and vice president of Union National Bank.

Parcel 33: Ruhle-Kennedy-Messerole House, 205 East Main Street (contributing)

Late 19th century Victorian incorporating elements of Eastern Stick style; built c. 1890. Two and a half story frame house covered with clapboard painted white; brick foundation, hip roof covered with asphalt shingles. Asymmetrical shape with projecting pavilion on west front and L-shaped one-story porch with slender square columns and scroll-sawn diagonal brackets; wooden railing consisting of stick-style balusters and wood panels cut out in cloverleaf pattern. Pedimented dormers sided with wooden shingles and diagonally-placed strips of weatherboard; wide entablature formed of rows of weatherboard with carved brackets and fascia panel with applied molding and medallions. Angled bay on first story of projection sided in Stick style fashion, with wooden panels applied with vertical strips.

Built by George Bastable the younger who never lived in the house, renting it for a time and then selling it in 1891 to John Ruhle, a founder of the Ruhle-Koblegard Company and vice president of Standard Milling Company.

Parcel 34: Flanagan-Wilson House, 209 East Main Street (contributing)

Georgian Revival, built 1910-11. Square two and a half story buff-colored brick with rust-colored brick quoins and quoin-style window surrounds, jack arch lintels, and central keystones. Red curved clay tile roof, gable, with brick foundation. One-story porch across front pedimented above entrance with carved wooden shield applied to tympanum. Wide entablature on porch
7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

and main roof with molded cornice and modillion blocks; fluted Doric columns. Lozenge-shaped leaded glass panes in upper sash of large square first-story window; elaborate Palladian window in large attic-story dormer; squared oriel window with red metal bell-cast roof on west side.

Built by John M. Flanagan on property purchased from John Koblegard. Flanagan was a sheriff of Harrison County and instrumental in bringing the Industrial Home for Girls to the county.

Parcel 35: Bastable-Koblegard-Keeley House, 217 East Main Street (contributing)

Originally Victorian Gothic, now neo-Classic Revival; built 1870-72, remodeled between 1911-1924. Rectangular two and a half story brick, painted white, with gable roof covered with asphalt shingles and a foundation of coursed stone. Two story wing at rear. Long narrow windows in segmental relieving arches. Original five-bay one-story porch with pedimented roof and spindle and bracket trim, single-bay pedimented second story porch above, removed before 1924 and replaced with large two-story, three-bay portico with four smooth Doric columns, molded fascia and cornice, and flat roof edged with wooden balcony.

Built by the elder George Bastable on land purchased from the heirs of Granville Davisson. Probably the second oldest house still standing in the district. Purchased in 1881 by John Ruhle's business partner, John Koblegard, who was also an incorporator of Union National Bank and the West Fork Oil and Natural Gas Company which supplied the Hazel-Atlas Glass Company, the largest manufacturers of pressed-ware tumblers in the world in its heyday.

Parcel 36: Nathan J. Coplin-Taylor House, 227 East Main Street (contributing)

Originally Italianate, remodeled 1911-24 to present Colonial Revival appearance, built 1873. Two and a half story red brick, originally square, now rectangular (eastern third of building added during remodeling). Gable roof covered with common lap slate, foundation uncertain, covered with stucco. Long narrow windows in brick segmental relieving arches. Five-bay one-story porch or veranda with large fluted Corinthian columns, wide entablature with molded frieze and dentils, square brackets. Three roof dormers on front facade, two small pedimented dormers flanking a large central dormer with a Palladian window and scrolled keystone. The early 20th century alterations were intended to blend into the original construction and are difficult to detect today.

Built by Colonel Nathan J. Coplin around 1873 on property purchased from John Bassel, who had acquired it from George Bastable.

Parcel 37: Lyle A. Smith-Phares House, 235 East Main Street (contributing)

Late 19th century-early 20th century eclectic, built 1901. Two and a half story asymmetrical red brick with fine slate roof, gable style, in alternating rows of hexagonal and common lap; foundation covered with stucco. Projecting pavilion on west front with broken pediment dormer.
7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

Windows primarily square with stone or concrete lintels and sills, some narrow with round arches. One-story porch across front, now partially enclosed with siding painted white on the east end.

Built by Lyle A. Smith, son of Abraham Smith, Jr., who erected the house on the lot adjoining on the east.

Parcel 38: Abraham Smith, Jr.- Catherine Osborn Goff House, 239 East Main Street (contributing)

Late 19th century vernacular with Italianate elements; built 1877. Two and a half story brick, painted gray, on a foundation of coursed ashlar covered with stucco and steeply-pitched hip roof covered with asphalt shingles. Gabled dormer in each side of hip, covered with wood shingles and set with Palladian-style windows. Tall narrow windows in brick segmental relieving arches. One-story three-bay porch with slender Doric columns, dentilled entablature.

Built by Abraham Smith, Jr., son of Pruntytown (Taylor County) businessman Abraham Smith, a descendant of an old New Jersey Quaker family. A. Smith, Jr., was also the brother-in-law of neighbors William H. Freeman, Burton Despard, and Dr. Joseph L. Carr. His house was built on property purchased from George Bastable, who had acquired a larger tract from the heirs of Granville G. Davison, whose wife, Charlotte, was a sister of Burton Despard. Smith was one of the backers of the rail line built between Clarksburg and Fairmont, which helped open Harrison and Marion counties to the coal boom of the 1890's. The house was later owned by Louis A. Johnson, assistant secretary of war under President Roosevelt and secretary of defense under President Truman. Now the residence of Catherine Osborn Goff, granddaughter of William Freeman and great-niece of Burton Despard, Dr. Carr, and Abraham Smith, Jr.

Parcel 41: Colonel Burton Despard House (Despard's Folly) / Davis-Weater Funeral Home, 329 East Main Street (pivotal)

Italianate, built between 1852-1856. Two-story five-bay structure, square in shape, built of handmade brick on a raised foundation covered with stucco which is scored to resemble ashlar. Low-pitch gable roof now covered with asphalt shingles. Tall narrow windows partially covered with wrought-iron grilles. Center doors on both stories with narrow paneled glass sidelights, rectangular paneled transom with corner lights. Narrow cornice between first and second stories supported by large, elaborately carved brackets and surmounted by a wrought-iron railing for a balcony effect. Matching railing edges the first story windows and entrance steps. Wide eaves of roof are set off by wide entablature ornamented with large brackets ending in pendants. Exterior of house seems to have been changed very little over the years; several two-story additions made to rear.

Built by Colonel Burton Despard on land either purchased from Dr. Carr and the Towers estate or inherited from his father, Richard, a native of Ireland and an early Harrison County land speculator. This was the "palatial residence" referred to by the Cincinnati Enquirer in 1861 when describing the corral for 2,000 to 3,000 Union Army horses and mules located directly across the road from Despard's home. Dubbed "Despard's Folly" by the citizens of Clarksburg, who wondered why a prominent attorney would build such a fine house so far from town (actually less than two miles from the courthouse). Despard, who had a law practice with Edwin Maxwell and, later, son-in-law Nathan Goff, Jr., was one of the leading developers of the Harrison County coal industry,
7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

an incorporator of the Merchants Bank, Clarksburg's only banking institution in the middle of the 19th century, and an organizer of the Clarksburg Gas Company, which provided the first gas heat and illumination in the town by producing gas from coal. Despard was married first to Emily, a daughter of Abraham Smith, Sr., Pruntytown merchant and a descendant of a prominent New Jersey Quaker family, and after her death married Gertrude Lee, daughter of Judge George H. Lee. The house remained in the Despard family until 1919, and is now occupied by Davis-Weaver Funeral Home, having in effect been owned by only two families and one business in its more than 130 years in existence. It is the oldest extant building in the Quality Hill Historic District, and from eyewitness accounts seems to have been maintained in a reasonably intact exterior condition.

Parcel 42: Haymond Maxwell House, 331 East Main Street (contributing)

Georgian Revival, built 1904-05. Two and a half story frame with narrow shiplap siding, painted white, with pilaster-style corner boards. Hip roof covered with asphalt shingles, split face molded block foundation. Square in shape with a shallow projecting squared bay in the center of the second story set with triplet windows. Gabled dormer set with three small windows in trefoil arch opening partially enclosed by wooden balustrade. Dormer and shallow two-story semi-circular bay on west side covered with diamond-shaped shingles. One-story three-bay porch with slender fluted Doric columns.

Built by Haymond Maxwell, son of Edwin Maxwell, and a member of the West Virginia House of Delegates, the first judge elected to the Harrison County Criminal Court, a judge of the 15th Judicial Circuit, and who also followed his father as a justice of the West Virginia Supreme Court.

Parcel 43: Merriman-Oliverio House, 333 East Main Street (contributing)

American Foursquare with Colonial Revival details; built 1911-13. Two and a half story square frame house sided with narrow clapboard painted white on a brick foundation; hip roof covered with common lap slate, gray in color. Each side of the hip is set with a pedimented dormer sided with hexagonal wooden shingles. Wide eaves project above a narrow entablature with large modillions. Three-bay one-story porch with smooth Doric columns on large brown brick bases connected by a wooden balustrade.

Built by William T. Merriman, a shoe and leather goods merchant.

Parcel 44: A. J. Fletcher House, 335 East Main Street (contributing)

Originally either Colonial Revival or American Foursquare, built 1912-13. Two and a half story frame with brick overlay, painted white; hip roof covered with common lap slate and a foundation of hollow shaped concrete block. Hipped dormer in each of the four sides of the roof. Interesting entablature at roof line, with a vertically scored fascia resembling a frieze of metopes and triglyphs. One-story semi-circular porch has been enclosed.
7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

Built by A. J. Fletcher on land purchased from Despard heirs. Fletcher was president of the Farmers Bank and operated Clarksburg’s popular Bee Hive Department Store from 1892 to 1920, when he sold the business to O. J. Morrison. Now occupied by Seton Nursing Home.

Parcel 45: Jarvis-Criswell House, 337 East Main Street (non-contributing)

Post World War II neo-Colonial, built 1945-46. This building is the last house to be erected in the Quality Hill Historic District, but is too recent to qualify for National Register status at this time. Built by James M. and Maud Lee Jarvis of clapboard and concrete block, painted green; gable roof covered with asphalt shingles. Rectangular, with two long wings at rear.

Parcel 46: Smith’s Pharmacy / Centennial Office Machines, 339 East Main Street (non-contributing)

One-story brick commercial building, erected between 1922-29 by Charles W. Louchery, son of Dr. Daniel Louchery. It was occupied by a pharmacy continuously for at least 40 years, serving the residents of the East Main Street area, and is now occupied by Centennial Office Machines. Slated for demolition by the West Virginia Department of Highways to make room for a new Goff Plaza Bridge.

Parcel 476: Dunn-Lewis House, 146 East Main Street (contributing)

Originally Queen Anne, later remodeled; built c. 1891-93. Two and a half story dark red brick on a laid-up sandstone foundation, steep hip roof covered asphalt shingles. Large pedimented dormer on west front with semi-circular broken arch window in molded surround. Majority of windows are square, double sash, with dressed stone lintels; series of three small single-light windows set in second story east front. Original semi-circular bay on second story west front replaced with rectangular double windows. Original one-story three-bay porch with pedimented roof and slender wooden columns replaced with smaller single-bay porch with flat roof supported by wrought iron columns and iron railing along parapet creating second story balcony. Few other alterations apparent; original pump still intact on rear porch.

Built by Mildred A. F. Dunn, a highly respected Harrison County teacher, with money left her by her father. This was the first house of a trio that once stood between Maple Avenue and the sprawling Southern Pine Lumber Company building (later the A&P) on the corner of East Main and Monticello. This was also the second building to be erected on the north side of East Main on Jackson land after the final parcelling out of the J. G. Jackson estate.

Parcel 477: Boggess-Myers House, 150 East Main Street (contributing)

Queen Anne, built c. 1893. Two and a half story red brick on foundation of cut stone with hip roof covered with multi-colored slate tiles in alternating rows of diamond and common lap.
7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

Projecting pavilion on west front with gabled dormer sided with wooden shingles in hexagonal and fish scale shapes. Horseshoe-shaped bargeboard on dormers and pediment of porch with pendant trim. One-story porch across front extending around east side with slender lathe-turned columns and balustrade, spindle-style eaves trim. Applied wooden sunburst on tympanum. Square windows with stone lintels and sills. Outbuilding at rear of property, originally barn or stable, now used as garage. One and a half stories, frame, covered with weatherboard painted brown; three bays with double doors on first story, smaller single door on second story center. Built by E. Stringer and Mary R. C. Boggess on property originally belonging to John G. Jackson. Stringer Boggess formed his own lumber company which was headquartered at Clarksburg for many years. The house was sold in 1895 to Martha O. Goff, and has remained relatively unchanged through the years.

Parcel 478-479: Robinson-Jackson House (John George Jackson Homestead Site), 154 East Main Street (pivotal)

Classic Revival, built between 1903-07. Imposing two and a half story building with Beaux-Arts detailing, built of brick painted white, with a hip roof covered with standing seam metal and a foundation of split face molded block. Symmetrical composition characteristic of Classic Revival structures. Belt course above second story composed of enriched moldings with dentils and elaborately carved brackets supporting a wide cornice which flares beneath a brick parapet. Small pedimented dormers set in attic story with tympanums applied with elaborate plaster foliation. Massive terra cotta cartouches applied to each corner of the second story in the form of large scroll-shaped medallions with elaborate stylized floral enrichment. Large two-story single-bay Ionic portico with large paired fluted columns and capitals combining volutes with egg and dart enrichment. Wide entablature of portico highlighted with molding and carved scroll-like modillions above a row of dentils. Pediment cornice also features modillion blocks along its molded edge; tympanum decorated with applied terra cotta shield surrounded by foliated rinceau in sharp relief. Single-bay balustraded balcony projects from second story within portico, and an open veranda with a similar balustrade extends from either side of the portico on the first story.

Built by Paul W. Robinson, vice president of Union National Bank, on the site of the original 1801 John George Jackson "mansion," which by 1890 had been allowed to deteriorate into a sad state of disrepair. Jackson built the mansion for his first wife, Mary Payne, sister of Dolly Madison and Lucy Washington, and after her death continued living there with his second wife, Mary Meigs, daughter of Governor Return Meigs of Ohio. The present house, physically impressive and architecturally significant as the only example of Classic Revival within the district, representing some of the finer elements of Beaux-Arts design, is also important for its geographical association with John George Jackson, in many ways the founder of Quality Hill, who contributed so much to the early development of Clarksburg and Western Virginia.

The house is presently owned by George Jackson, a descendant of Clarksburg’s influential Jackson family.
Parcel 480-481: Ogden-Folio House, 202 East Main Street (contributing)

Neo-Federal Revival, built 1922-23. Two-story four-bay red brick structure, square in shape, with brick foundation and flat seam metal roof, low-pitch hip. French doors on first story flank semi-circular entrance enclosure with double panelled wood doors between smooth wooden pilasters with foliated capitals, entablature ornamented with molding and applied plaster medallions. Eave line outlined by wide stone fascia panel surmounted with metal flashing and brick parapet. Small eyebrow dormers in roof. Circular stone or concrete rondelles with sunburst pattern placed between first and second story windows. Present owners have made several additions to rear.

Built by Dr. Chester R. Ogden, who purchased the property in 1906. Ogden was president of the West Virginia Medical Association and was married to a daughter of Dr. Daniel Louchery, one of Harrison County's foremost physicians and the first in the county to limit his practice to a specialty (eye, ear, nose, and throat).

Parcel 482: Burke-Martino House, 204 East Main Street (contributing)

Georgian Revival vernacular; built 1924. Two and a half story square dark red brick on brick foundation with asphalt shingle hip roof. Central shallowly-projecting pavilion surmounted by large dormer set with Palladian-style window. Wide eaves with narrow molded cornice and dentilled entablature. Large square windows. Three-bay one-story porch with molded, dentilled entablature and brick columns with brick skirt.

Built by Clarksburg pharmacist Hugh F. Burke and, with the exception of the Jarvis-Criswell House, the last residence to be built in the district.

Parcel 483: Nutter-Sotirakis House, 208 East Main Street (contributing)

American Foursquare with Colonial Revival details; built c. 1910-11. Two and a half story buff-colored brick on foundation of split face block and a hip roof covered with its original slate roof, red in color, with tiles in alternating rows of hexagonal lap and common lap. Pedimented dormers set with triplet windows and sided with wood shingles. One-story porch, two-bay in front and extending around west side, with square brick columns connected at the base by a brick parapet in an openwork pattern.

Built by Dr. Thomas L. Nutter, who began practicing medicine at Enterprise in 1897 as a coal company doctor. Re-located in Clarksburg after the turn of the century as a member of the staff of St. Mary's Hospital.

Parcel 484: Furbee-Lynch House, 212 East Main Street (contributing)

Georgian Revival with Queen Anne details; built 1906-07. Two and a half story frame, square in shape and painted green with white trim; pilaster-style corner boards with dentilled capitals. Split face block foundation, hip roof covered with asphalt shingles. Angled bay on second story east with gable roof forming pedimented dormer; smaller pedimented dormer on west front.
7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

Both dormers edged with wide vergeboard in a modified trefoil pattern and sided with fish scale shingles. Windows are square, with dentilled cornice caps set with bulls-eye corner medallions and leaded glass upper sashes on first story. One-story three-bay porch with projecting central pediment; wooden tympanum cut out in floral pattern. Slender unfluted paired and triple Ionic columns; molded frieze with brackets along porch roof and main roof line. Small square louvered cupola with pagoda roof topped by metal finial at roof peak.

Built by Charles W. Furbee, cashier of the Farmers Bank of Clarksburg.

Parcel 485: Koblegard-Gallo House, 218 East Main Street (contributing)

Late Queen Anne, built c. 1899. Two and a half story asymmetrical frame, painted white, with split face molded block foundation and hip roof covered with hexagonal and common lap slate tiles. Metal crests along roof ridges and main peak of hip, which is topped with a metal finial ending in a weathervane. Projecting pavilion on west front has pommel-shaped hip knob. Two-story six-sided bay on east front forms a tower capped with a metal sectional conical roof ending in a large metal finial. Most of the windows are rectangular double-sash; large second story window in pavilion has upper sash of stained glass. Several smaller stained glass windows on sides of building. Three-bay one-story porch extending from bay on east across the front of the house. Slender unfluted Doric columns, wide entablature with molded frieze and dentils. Roof dormers sided with wooden shingles. Pent roof between first and second stories of six-sided bay also covered with wooden shingles.

Built by Peter Koblegard on property acquired by Nathan Goff, Jr., from Jackson estate. Koblegard was a cousin of John Koblegard, who lived across the street, and was founder and general manager of The Koblegard Company, a large dry goods wholesale house, and was also one of the organizers of the West Fork Oil and Natural Gas Company.

Parcel 486: Snider-Oliverio House, 224 East Main Street (contributing)

Queen Anne, built c. 1897-1900. Two and a half story frame sided with narrow clapboard with split face block foundation and steep hip roof covered with asphalt shingles. Several gabled roof dormers of varying sizes; two story pavilion on east front surmounted by large gabled dormer with molded rakeboard carved with scoring and bulls-eyes. All dormers sided with hexagonal shingles and have elaborate wooden vergeboards. Rectangular windows, most in pairs, surrounded with architrave trim set with bulls-eye corner blocks. Original one-story two-bay porch with pedimented roof and lathe-turned columns connected by a balustrade replaced with another one-story porch which extends part way around west side and has a flat roof supported by square brick columns above a brick balustrade and skirt. Enclosed sunporch or sleeping porch added above first story porch by original owners.

Built by Millard Fillmore Snider, called the "dean of the Harrison County bar" by Clarksburg newspapers, was one of the city's foremost attorneys for many years. Snider was married to the former Elizabeth Stuart, daughter of Chapman Stuart, one of the those instrumental in the formation of the new state of West Virginia.
Parcel 487: Maxwell (Gaylord)-Boyajian House, 228 East Main Street (contributing)

Queen Anne with elements of Shingle style; built c. 1898. Two and a half story asymmetrical frame structure sided with clapboard and painted white. Dressed stone foundation and hip roof covered with hexagonal and common lap slate tiles. Projecting pavilion on west front topped with small pedimented dormer sided with shingles and set with small Palladian window; pommel-shaped finial at crest. Semi-circular porch, now enclosed, with skirt of wooden shingles in reverse fish scale pattern, roof with central pediment covered with standing seam metal. Dominant feature of the building is a massive three-story tower (added to the house by original owners between 1906-16), sided with wood shingles also painted white. Conical roof covered with slate tiles with a metal cap surmounted by a metal knob. Narrow rectangular windows in tower surrounded with molded architrave trim with cornice caps set with carved wooden corbels at either side. Elaborate entablature with molded fascia, dentilled cornice and a frieze festooned with Roman swag and garland motif; corresponding ribbon and bow motif applied to spandrels between second and third floors.

Built by Lewis Maxwell for his daughter Grace and her husband, William A. Gaylord of the Hornor-Gaylord Company.

Parcel 488-489: Virgil Highland House, 240 East Main Street (pivotal)

Victorian Romanesque; built 1903-05. Two and a half stories in height with a reddish-brown sandstone first story pointed with red mortar, remainder built of buff-colored brick with stone quoins at the corners and window surrounds. Cut sandstone foundation and asphalt shingle hip roof. Most of the windows are rectangular, with sandstone lintels. Two-story hexagonal bay on east front and three-story tower on west front, both with French doors in first story opening onto porch. Doors are set in Tudor arch recess, with stone caps set flush with the wall framing the arch and centered with an ornate scrolled keystone with carved stone stops at the base of each cap. Above the doors within the arch is a transom set with stained glass. Tower capped with conical roof of flat seam metal and massive finial. Third story of tower set with small windows in Tudor arch openings. A pair of narrow dormers with steep hip roofs and wide eaves are placed close together in the center of the main roof. Below the dormers on the second story is a large terra cotta medallion sculpted with a stylized shield and leaf motif and centered with a scrolled keystone. Probably the most dominant feature of the building is the sandstone porch across the front with a crenellated parapet and Tudor arch openings surrounded by stone voussoirs. The broken pediment above the entrance is set with a massive carved keystone surmounted by a stone urn. A corresponding sandstone porte cochere, also crenellated with Tudor arch openings, extends from the rear of the west side, and a two-story bay on the east side of the house is topped by a wide brick frieze with stone dentils beneath a crenellated sandstone parapet.

The porch steps are also of stone, with wide stone bases carved on the face with a scrolled leaf motif above clawed feet. The steps leading to the walk are stone, flanked by squat stone pillars with a fleur-de-lis motif carved in relief on the face. Similar but larger sandstone block pillars with red mortar flank the entrance to the driveway.

One of the most architecturally striking buildings in the district and the only example of
7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

the Victorian Romanesque style located on East Main Street, the house was built by banker and
politician Virgil Highland, one of Clarksburg's leading figures for nearly half a century. Highland
began his career as a schoolteacher and bookkeeper for Clarksburg businessman R. T. Lowndes,
becoming clerk of the Harrison County Court in 1896 and helping to organize the Empire
National Bank in 1903, of which he was president for many years. He was also president of the
company that published both of the city's two daily newspapers and was on the board of various
land and coal companies, including the Elk Horn Coal Company, the Bethlehem (Pennsylvania)
Coal Company, and the West Penn Public Service Company. He was also active in politics
throughout much of his life, and was one of the leaders of the West Virginia Republican Party
for many years, first as chairman of the Harrison County Republican Committee and later as
head of the West Virginia Republican Committee. He also served as chairman of the West
Virginia Public Service Commission, an interesting position for a man who was associated with
much of the state's coal, oil and gas production.

The Highland house was designed by the architectural firm of Holmboe and Rafferty, located
in Clarksburg, which was also responsible for the design of many of the public buildings and county
courthouses throughout central West Virginia.

Parcel 490: Haymaker-Wyborski House, 244 East Main Street (contributing)

Queen Anne with Eastlake decorative elements; built 1900-01. Two and a half story asymmetrical
frame with clapboard siding, presently painted yellow with orange trim to emphasize its Victorian
character. Hip roof covered with multi-colored slate in common lap, with metal crests along
roof ridges. Split face block foundation. Windows of varying sizes and shapes, from Palladian-
style window to single round arch window set in a Gothic arch surround flanked by narrow
pilasters. Large square window on first story set with upper sash of stained glass; gabled dormer
in roof of bay set with small round arch window with latticework quarrels. Small circular window
on west front second story also set with lattice panes. Pedimented dormers sided with wooden
shingles; two-story angled bay on east front. Smaller two-story bay on west front corner; both
bays have sectional roofs with bell-cast profile and flared eaves. Small pedimented dormer
in sectional roof of east bay framed by slender columns or pilasters projecting above roof line
and ending in metal finials; large finial at roof crest. One-story three-bay porch with paired
smooth Doric columns on split face molded block bases connected by a parapet of openwork
block. Wide entablature of architrave multiple fascias, with a pediment above entrance decorated
with an applied plaster wreath and ribbon motif. Balustraded railing above pediment creates a
second-story balcony effect.

One of the more representative examples of late Queen Anne architecture in the district,
built by Frank B. Haymaker on property part of "Jackson Square" in deed records and on the
original plat of survey. Haymaker was a Clarksburg pharmacist and a founder of the West Virginia
Pharmaceutical Association who was also one of the leaders in the establishment of a College of
Pharmacy at West Virginia University.
Parcel 491: Smiley-Matthews House, 248 East Main Street (contributing)

Neo-Colonial Revival, built 1906-07. Two and a half story square frame structure sided with clapboard painted gray; unusually fine foundation of pale gray split face block; hip roof covered with gray slate in hexagonal and common lap pattern. Two story projecting pavilion on west side; pedimented dormer on west front set with double windows with multi-light upper sashes. Large square window on first story with upper sash of leaded glass. Semi-circular porch with smooth Doric columns on tall concrete bases connected by stone balustrade. Pilaster corner boards and wide molded entablature with dentils. Interesting doorway, with a single wooden door set with a large oval beveled glass window on one side and a larger panelled wooden insert on the other side, set with a square beveled glass window.

Built by Charles Smiley, president of Star Rig, Reel and Supply Company, which produced rig iron outfits and manila cable for drilling companies, shipping their products all over the world. Smiley was also one of the backers of Clarksburg's Kessler Hospital, now part of United Hospital Center.

Parcel 492: Williams-Petitto House, 254 East Main Street (contributing)

Queen Anne, built 1901. Two and a half story asymmetrical frame structure covered with red brick, wood trim painted yellow. Split face molded block foundation, asphalt shingle hip roof. Large projecting two-story bay on east front topped with gabled dormer sided with wood shingles painted yellow. Three story tower on west front corner with first two stories built of brick and third story sided with wooden shingles; conical roof with flared eaves covered with slate and topped with a metal cap. Three stained glass windows set in tower's first story; three small square windows on the second story; three oval windows with leaded glass panes on the third story. Other windows are primarily rectangular, with rough stone lintels and smooth stone sills. Narrow entablature with elongated dentils which have scalloped ends. One-story semi-circular porch with slender paired Doric columns on large stuccoed bases; entablature consists of molded frieze and row of dentils. Porch roof is pedimented above entrance, with shingled tympanum outlined with large dentils.

Built by Perry C. Williams, an incorporator, along with Virgil Highland, of Clarksburg's Empire National Bank.

Parcel 493: Ross F. Stout/McGlumphy Mortuaries, 260 East Main Street (non-contributing)

Original style uncertain, built 1901. Two and a half stories in height, originally frame sided with clapboard. Foundation unknown, hip roof covered with hexagonal and common lap slate tile now painted silver. Built by Ross F. Stout, an incorporator of the Clarksburg Trust Company, president of Glen View Brick, whose produce was used in the construction of Clarksburg's Waldo Hotel and Goff Building. The house has been altered to meet the needs of McGlumphy Mortuary, which has occupied the building for years. Front porch enlarged and enclosed, with a full-front plate glass addition on second story above porch. Original roof of bay or tower on east front replaced with flat roof and metal cornice. Original fabric covered with an applied stone and
and vinyl siding, and several additions have been made to the rear.

Parcel 494: James Clifford House, 270 East Main Street (pivotal)

Italianate; completed 1880. Two-story square structure built of dark red brick kilned on the property, with a foundation of cut stone and a stone water table. Low pitch hip roof covered with asphalt shingles. Tall narrow windows with brick segmental relieving arches and stone sills. Two angled two-story bays flank the center entrance of narrow double doors beneath a glass transom in a round arch opening. Both bays are set with three windows on each story. Wide entablature at the roof line with a plain frieze and wide projecting molded cornice supported by large elaborately carved brackets. Original appearance of the front facade and main section of the building have been maintained; original two-story wing at rear removed and replaced with smaller one-story wing by the American Legion, which presently owns the building.

Erected by James Clifford, a native of Ballina, County Mayo, Ireland, on property acquired from Judge Gideon Camden, commissioner in the partition of the Jackson estate. This was the first house, other than the John George Jackson mansion, to be built on the north side of East Main Street, and the first to be erected on the site of the Union Army's infamous corral. The house was owned by several generations of the Clifford family, including James Philip Clifford, Sr., and Jr., both elected prosecuting attorney for Harrison County. J. P. Clifford, Sr., was the attorney for Thomas Moore Jackson's Short Line railroad and an incorporator of the Traders Bank of Clarksburg. His son graduated from Harvard Law School and served as prosecuting attorney of the county for 23 years before being appointed judge of the Harrison-Lewis Circuit Court.

Parcel 501: Robinson-Haynes House/American Red Cross, 265 Oak Street (contributing)

Late 19th century frame Victorian, or Princess Anne, showing influence of Colonial Revival; built 1895-97. Two and a half story frame sided with clapboard painted white. Hip roof covered with asphalt shingles; foundation covered with stucco and scored to resemble ashlar. One-story porch across front extending around north side, with paired smooth Doric columns on large shingle-covered bases. Wide sloping eaves on porch supported by large square brackets. Windows are rectangular double-sash with cornice window heads. Two-story angled bay on south side surmounted with gabled dormer.

Built by Clarksburg jeweler and businessman B. F. Robinson on property acquired from R.T. Lowndes, who in turn purchased it from the heirs of Robert Childers. The house and surrounding property were bought by Dr. Robert A. Haynes, who helped to establish the Harrison County Hospital, later St. Mary's Hospital and now part of United Hospital Center, around the turn of the century.

Parcel 502: Dennison-Lucas House, 344 East Main Street (contributing)

Bungalow style, built 1912-13. Two story square frame structure with brick foundation and a
7. DESCRIPTION (cont.)

gable roof covered with red clay tiles. First story covered with shiplap siding, second story
covered with wood shingles, both painted yellow. Large dormer in center front of roof also
sided with wood shingles. Wide projecting eaves on dormer and main roof supported by large
flat brackets. Small French door in dormer opens onto a narrow railed balcony. One-story
enclosed front porch built of brick with triple-sash Prairie-style ribbon windows, recessed
entrance on west side. Large stained glass window in round arch opening on second story west
side.

The only example of the popular Bungalow style of architecture within the district, this
house was built by A. Franklin Dennison on property acquired from Robert A. Haynes.

Parcel 503: Earle-Church House, 300 Philippi Street (contributing)

Craftsmen, built between 1905-1910. Two-story frame building covered with a rough stucco,
with a gently-pitched hip roof covered with asphalt shingles. Modified eyebrow dormer centered
in roof. Windows are square on second story while those on the first story are double-hung with
the muntins forming a double Gothic arch which is centered with small diamond-shaped insets
of stained glass. Arched canopy above doorway supported by large brackets which originally
rested on large wooden bases. Single door flanked by narrow half sidelights also with diamond-
shaped insets of stained glass. Arched glass transom with stained glass corner lights. A one-
story wing consistent with the style and fabric of the rest of the house was added to the south
side, probably by the original owners prior to 1924.

Built by Guy Earle on property purchased from Dr. Haynes, this is the only example in the
district of the transitional Craftsman style of architecture, which preceded the Bungalow and
greatly influenced the younger designers of the early 20th century.

Parcel B: Hose Company No. 2, 301 Philippi Street (contributing)

One-story dark red brick fire station built in 1921-22 by the City of Clarksburg on land purchased
from R. T. Lowndes. Flat roof of red clay tile and narrow cornice of stone or concrete. Single
garage door which has replaced an earlier double wooden door, with stone or concrete insets
above which read "CFD NO 2." Built as a branch fire station by the City of Clarksburg, the
second fire house to be erected in town, and built as a result of the increased need for fire
protection created by a fully developed East Main Street area and newly created Goff Plaza
residential area just across the bridge, which began building up in the early 1920’s. The influence
which prominent Quality Hill residents were capable of exerting on City government probably
had something to do with the City’s choice of location for the first branch fire house, designated
in the deed records as Hose Company No. 2. The building is still owned by the City of Clarksburg,
although it is currently unoccupied.
8. Significance

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Period</th>
<th>Areas of Significance—Check and justify below</th>
<th></th>
<th></th>
<th></th>
<th></th>
<th></th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>prehistoric</td>
<td>archaeology-prehistoric</td>
<td>community planning</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1400-1499</td>
<td>archaeology-historic</td>
<td>conservation</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1500-1599</td>
<td>agriculture</td>
<td>economics</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1600-1699</td>
<td>architecture</td>
<td>education</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1700-1799</td>
<td>art</td>
<td>engineering</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>X 1800-1899</td>
<td>commerce</td>
<td>exploration settlement</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>X 1900-</td>
<td>communications</td>
<td>industry</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>invention</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>landscape architecture</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>religion</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>science</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>law</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>literature</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>military</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>music</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>philosophy</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>politics government</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>transportation</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>X</td>
<td>other (specify)</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

Specific dates 1800-1925  Builder/Architect  Multiple

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

(MEETS CRITERIA A, B & C)

Clarksburg's East Main Street, a tree-lined residential neighborhood less than one square mile in size, contains the largest concentration of houses in central West Virginia built by men who were influential not only in the development of Clarksburg and Harrison County but who also played significant roles in the West Virginia political arena, including the initial formation of the state and the formulation of early state legislation, and who were instrumental in the development of the state's important coal, oil and gas industries. These were the homes of the men who helped to shape the town of Clarksburg, one of the major communities west of the Alleghenies in pre-Civil War Virginia and the headquarters of the first Federal District Court to be established in Western Virginia, as well as a main supply depot for the Union Army from 1861 to 1865, and whose contributions to the burgeoning coal, oil and gas, and transportation industries - the economic backbone of the state - made Clarksburg the commercial and industrial center of central West Virginia. East Main Street is also distinguished by its outstanding architectural character, representing the finest collection of late 19th and early 20th century residential architecture in one spot in central West Virginia (although several buildings date back to the 1850's). There are particularly fine examples of the Italianate, Queen Anne, and Classic Revival styles, and at least two of the houses were designed by prominent architectural firms - Sloan and Balderston of Philadelphia and Clarksburg's Holmboe and Lafferty, the latter firm responsible for the design of many of the public buildings and county courthouses throughout central West Virginia. The area is remarkably cohesive, with no real intrusions and generally minimal alterations, and has managed to retain both its reputation as a prestigious address and a degree of architectural integrity seldom found today in older neighborhoods. Clarksburg itself is also significant as the birthplace of Confederate General Thomas J. "Stonewall" Jackson; John W. Davis, the 1924 Democratic candidate for President of the United States; and President Carter's secretary of state, Cyrus Vance.

Additional Historical Background

Clarksburg, founded around 1778 and officially established by the Virginia Assembly in 1785, was named in honor of General George Rogers Clark. The town quickly developed a long-held reputation for a distinguished bar and high educational standards, the latter beginning as early as the late 18th century when the Assembly chartered Randolph Academy, the first institution of its kind west of the Alleghenies, with Benjamin Harrison, Patrick Henry, and Edmund Randolph among its trustees.

Clarksburg's reputation for a highly-qualified bar was based in large part on the town's position as the site of the first Federal District Court to be established in Western Virginia. This choice of location was not coincidence: John George Jackson, a Clarksburg attorney and son of U. S.
Congressman George Jackson, brother-in-law of President James Madison, personal friend and political supporter of President James Monroe during Jackson's own terms in Congress, had lobbied energetically on behalf of the creation of the court and its establishment at Clarksburg, and for his efforts was in 1819 appointed its first judge by President Monroe.

Jackson, who at one time owned most of the land on which the Quality Hill Historic District now stands, in 1801 built one of the first houses to be located on East Main Street, a two-story frame and brick structure with a four-columned pedimented portico which owed something of its design to the new American Federal style and to Thomas Jefferson's experiments with Roman Classicism. Erected for his bride Mary Payne, sister of Dolly Madison and Lucy Washington, the house was known locally as the "Jackson mansion" until its eventual demolition between 1903-1906 after decades of neglect.

In addition to his political activities, Jackson was one of Clarksburg's first industrialists, building what amounted to a small town, named Miles' End, near Clarksburg which included a flour mill, fulling mill and carding mill, a tannery, foundry, and furnace. He also shipped his products north to Pittsburgh, running a small fleet of flatboats loaded with flax, tobacco, ginseng, woolen cloth, slate, maple syrup, leather, iron, nails, horseshoes, pots, and skillets. In conjunction with these activities he was instrumental in organizing the Monongahela Navigation Company, which envisioned the opening of the West Fork and Mongahela rivers as public waterways, a venture which was eventually halted by French engineer Claudius Crozet in 1824, who a year later began the construction of the Northwestern Turnpike running from Winchester through Clarksburg to Parkersburg.

While various small industries were started in Clarksburg and Harrison County in the town's early years, the completion of the Turnpike (which ran along North Back Street, now Pike Street, one block north of East Main Street) as far as Clarksburg in 1836 opened the town to commerce with both east and west, with freight wagons making the trip twice monthly from Clarksburg to the port of Baltimore and stages running west to Parkersburg to connect with steamboats plying the Ohio River. The Turnpike also brought an influx of Irish immigrants who came to build the road and later settled in the area.

A second wave of Irish arrived in the 1840's, recruited by the Northwestern Railroad Company to begin construction of what was to become the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad. Due to a major dispute between the Virginia Assembly, the cities of Baltimore and Philadelphia, and the promoters of the railroad, the line was not actually completed until 1857. This, however, made Clarksburg one of the more strategically valuable towns in Western Virginia during the Civil War, placed as it was on both a through turnpike and a major rail line, and the town served as a main supply depot for the Union Army from 1861 to 1865 and as General George B. McClellan's headquarters until the Battle of Bull Run.

Clarksburg was also the birthplace of one of McClellan's adversaries in the war, General Thomas J. "Stonewall" Jackson, a nephew of Federal Justice John George Jackson, who spent his early years in a small frame house on West Main Street, across from the county courthouse.
SIGNIFICANCE (cont.)

At the time of the Civil War, the East Main Street area, then Philippi Pike, had as yet only a few dwellings: The mansion of John G. Jackson on the corner of East Main and Tom Street (now Maple Avenue); Jackson's grandfather’s "stone house" directly across the road, given by John George to his daughter, Mary Elizabeth Payne Jackson on her marriage to attorney John James Allen (later a member of the Virginia Senate, the U. S. House of Representatives, and judge of the Virginia Supreme Court); possibly a small building belonging to the Reverend George Towers, the Oxford-educated Englishman hired as the first tutor of Randolph Academy, and later belonging to David Hurrey; Dr. Joseph's Carr's recently constructed frame house and office at the southeast end of the street; and a fairly new, "palatial residence" east of Carr's property built by Colonel Burton Despard and considered by Clarksburg's residents as being located a foolishly long distance from town (actually less than two miles from the courthouse). The Cincinnati Enquirer in 1861 described the chagrin of Colonel Despard, whose home was situated directly opposite the Jackson orchard which Union Army Quartermaster Captain Charles Leib chose as a conveniently located spot to corral two to three thousand army horses and mules. The former site of the Jackson orchard is known locally to this day as the "corral," which also gave its name to the alley intersecting that block of East Main.

Clarksburg's major period of growth actually began some years after the Civil War, starting around 1870 and increasing steadily until the early 1890's when the real boom period began. The impact of the railroad on Harrison County's economic and industrial development was enormous, and during the second half of the 19th century Clarksburg became the clearinghouse for all of central West Virginia. The construction and later extension of the railroad coincided with the development of the county's coal industry. Although coal was shipped from Harrison to Pittsburgh by flatboat as early as 1835, the first deep mine in the county was not incorporated until 1859; by 1890 the United States Census reported the existence of eight coal mines in Harrison County, exploiting one of the richest coal deposits in the state. Between 1890 and 1895 a number of new spur lines to the B&O were constructed, which allowed the opening of half a dozen new mines, many of them owned by the Despard, Jackson, Lowndes, and Goff interests. The production of oil and gas became another major Harrison County industry in the 1890's, due in large part to Thomas Moore Jackson, grandson of John George Jackson.

This availability of natural resources and good transportation facilities brought new industries into the Clarksburg area. In 1899 the Du Pont company established the first chemical plant in the middle Appalachian area five miles outside Clarksburg. The Jackson Sheet and Tin Plate Company, eventually to become Weirton Steel with branches in five states, was incorporated by Thomas Moore Jackson in 1901. The discovery of large sources of natural gas attracted French and Belgian immigrants who established cooperative glass manufactories - a total of 17 window glass factories and 18 companies specializing in the production of decorative of utilitarian glassware were opened in Harrison County. Between 1900 and 1920 the population of Clarksburg increased nearly seven-fold, from 4,050 at the turn of the century to 27,869 in 1920.

The development of Clarksburg as the major commercial and industrial city of central West Virginia was paralleled by the development of the East Main Street area into what was to become
8. SIGNIFICANCE (cont.)

known as Quality Hill. The land at the base of the hill along Elk Creek and on the rise of the East Main Street hill seems to have been settled early in Clarksburg's history, serving as both a residential and commercial area, but with the population receding on the east side of the creek as the land on the west side was developed. During the first half of the 19th century most of the East Main Street area consisted of several farms interspersed with a few small dwellings, bounded by the Jackson home on the northwest and later the Despard home and farm at the southeast end. In the early 1870's most of the property on the south side of the street, part of the George Towers estate, was sold, bought, and re-sold several times in the space of a few years, with much of it traded among four brothers-in-law: Colonel Despard, Dr. Carr, Abraham Smith, Jr., and William H. Freeman. John Bassel, legal counsel for the B&O, purchased several parcels but finally built on the west side of Elk Creek. Between 1870 and 1885 seven houses were erected on East Main Street, most in the early 1870's; six of them were situated on the south side of the street and one, the James Clifford home, the first to be built on the north side on the site of the Jackson orchard and Leib's infamous corral. The Edwin Maxwell house at the westernmost end of the street was built on the site of the Jackson stone house, which had been a wedding gift to John J. and Mary E. P. Jackson Allen.

The real period of expansion on the street began around 1890, coinciding with the explosion in the coal, oil and gas industries that occurred throughout West Virginia during this time, peaking in the early 20th century. In the decade before the turn of the century, another eight dwellings were erected on Quality Hill, this time all but one built on the north side as the Jackson family holdings finally began to be broken up. It was during this period that the name Jackson Square came into use, used in the county deed records to describe the section on the north side of East Main extending from the old John George Jackson mansion to South Oak Street and encompassing the property formerly known as the Jackson orchard and later as the corral.

The great prosperity experienced by Clarksburg and other areas of the state rich in natural resources between the turn of the century and the beginning of World War I is clearly illustrated in the East Main Street residential district, whose builders all benefitted in one way or another from the economic expansion, which allowed them to erect and maintain their large, imposing residences. By far the greatest number of houses in the district were constructed during this period - 16 between 1901 and 1916, one of them on the site of the badly deteriorated John George Jackson house. By 1916 the district was nearly complete, with only three more buildings erected on East Main after 1920: Dr. Ogden's home in 1922-23, pharmacist Hugh Burke's adjacent residence in 1924, and the Jarvis house on a corner of the former Despard property after World War II.

The men responsible for the development of Quality Hill nearly all played important roles in state and local history. The high concentration of lawyers, judges, bankers, and doctors within an area of less than a square mile is unusual, and further remarkable for the range of influence they exerted. John George Jackson began the East Main Street tradition and set the tone for the district as early as 1801, followed by men such as Burton Despard, Harrison County landowner, coal operator, and attorney in practice with Edwin Maxwell and Nathan Goff, Jr.; Edwin Maxwell, himself a member of the West Virginia Senate and chairman of the Judicial Committee, bringing to bear a great deal of influence on the formation of early state legislation, later state attorney general and finally justice of the the State Supreme Court; Maxwell's son, Haymond, who followed his father in the practice of law and onto the bench of the State Supreme Court; Millard F. Snider,
8. SIGNIFICANCE (cont.)

known as the "dean of the Harrison County bar" and married to the daughter of Chapman Stuart, a man instrumental in the formation of West Virginia.

John James Allen, son-in-law of John George Jackson and a member of the Virginia Senate before West Virginia became a separate state, was also a judge of the Virginia Supreme Court and a member of the U.S. House of Representatives, living for many years on East Main Street in the John Jackson Sr. stone house. John Bassel, attorney for the B&O Railroad and a delegate to the Constitutional Convention of 1872, owned property on the street and is thought to have resided there for a few years, before he built a large brick home on West Main Street.

Virgil Highland, incorporator and president of Clarksburg's Empire National Bank and publisher of the city's two newspapers, built the only Victorian Romanesque style house on East Main Street. He was a director in other banking institutions, on the board of several land companies, and involved in the production of coal, oil and gas. Highland was also one of the most influential men in West Virginia politics of his era. Bankers and oil and gas men abounded on East Main - nearly everyone was a founder, director, or even president of one of Clarksburg's numerous financial institutions, beginning again with John George Jackson who helped establish the town's first bank, and including James Philip Clifford, Sr., also attorney for Thomas Moore Jackson's Short Line Railroad; George Lee Duncan, who purchased the Edwin Maxwell house; William Freeman, brother-in-law of Burton Despard; Charles Hornor; John Koblegard, a Clarksburg businessman who founded the Ruhle-Koblegard and Standard Milling companies, the West Fork Oil and Natural Gas Company, and was incorporator and president of two of Clarksburg's banks; Charles Furbee; Perry Williams; Ross F. Stout; Burton Despard, and others.

John Koblegard's partner and neighbor on East Main, John Ruhle, was a member of the West Virginia House of Delegates and married to Julia Walker, one of the guiding lights of Broaddus College (now Alderson-Broaddus College) and Clarksburg civic leader. Most of the residents on the street were related in one way or another, either by blood, by marriage, or by business connections. Three managers of the massive Hornor-Gaylord Company lived on East Main. Three founders of the Ruhle-Koblegard Company and its various spinoff companies lived within a few hundred feet of each other. Virgil Highland, president of Empire National Bank, was surrounded by several of his directors. The Traders Bank, Farmers Bank, and Union National Bank were also represented. As mentioned, four of the early (1850-1872) builders were brothers-in-law, all married to daughters of Abraham Smith, Sr., and all living with a two-block area on the south side of East Main. Many of the current residents are still related by various ties, and one woman, Catherine Osborn Goff, can claim relationship through blood or marriage with about 75% of both original owners and current residents.

This particular kind of exclusivity has actually helped the area maintain its integrity over the years. Collectively, the district is remarkably intact, retaining not only its prestigious reputation and residential nature, but also its architectural character and ambience. It has managed to escape the fate of many formerly exclusive neighborhoods, undergoing a long period of decline and neglect as original residents leave and large older houses are broken up into apartments or torn down to make room for commercial development. Quality Hill, so named by other Clarks-
8. SIGNIFICANCE (cont.)

burg residents more than 100 years ago - and recognized by the Post Office as a legitimate address as late the 1940's - has more than earned its place in Clarksburg's and West Virginia's history.
9. Major Bibliographical References

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property 14 acres, approximately

Quadrangle name Clarksburg, West Virginia

UTM References

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Zone</th>
<th>Easting</th>
<th>Northing</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>A</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>7</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>B</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>7</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>C</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>7</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>D</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>7</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>E</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>F</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>G</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

Verbal boundary description and justification

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>state</th>
<th>code</th>
<th>county</th>
<th>code</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>N/A</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Ralph Pedersen and Margo Stafford

organization Ralph Pedersen A.I.A. Architect

date May 15, 1985

street & number 351 Washington Avenue/P. O. Box 1885

telephone (304) 624-9298

city or town Clarksburg

state West Virginia

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

   national   state   local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89-665), I hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service.

State Historic Preservation Officer signature

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>title</th>
<th>State Historic Preservation Officer</th>
<th>date June 24, 1985</th>
</tr>
</thead>
</table>

For NPS use only

I hereby certify that this property is included in the National Register

Keeper of the National Register

Attest:

Chief of Registration
9. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

---, Addresses to the Fifty-Year Club, 1948-1955, Harrison County Historical Society, Clarksburg.

Census of Virginia, 1790-1860.

Census of West Virginia, 1870-1930.


Davis, Dorothy, "He was Vexed That He Had a Wish Beyond Clarksburg," Clarksburg Exponent-Telegram, July 22, 1984.


Harrison County Order Books

Harrison County Deed Books.

Harrison County Historical Society, Records of (deposited with the Harrison County Historical Society, Stealey-Goff-Vance House, Clarksburg).

Harrison County Land Books.

Harrison County Tax Records.

Harrison County Will Books.


Hess, Alice Jo, History of Medicine in Harrison County, West Virginia (Harrison County Medical Society, Publishers), McClain Printing Company, Parsons, West Virginia, 1978.

---, "History of Harrison County from its Earliest Settlement to the Present Time," Clarksburg Telegram, December 11, 1875, through April 29, 1876.

Polk Directory for Clarksburg (Harrison County, West Virginia), R. L. Polk & Co., Richmond, Virginia, 1900-1954.


Stafford, Thomas F., History of the United States District Court for Northern West Virginia, Elkins, West Virginia, 1984 (deposited with the U. S. District Court, Elkins; Department of Culture and History, Division of Archives and History, Charleston; Harvard Law Library, Cambridge, Massachusetts).

INTERVIEWS AND LETTERS

Interviews with Mrs. Catherine Osborn Goff, Clarksburg, West Virginia, 1985.


Interview with Mrs. --- Highland Johnson, Clarksburg, West Virginia, 1985.

Interview with William Yoke, Jr., Clarksburg, West Virginia, 1985.

MAPS AND PHOTOGRAPHS


---, Clarksburg from Lowndes Hill (circuit camera photograph), c. 1891.
9. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES (cont.)

---, Clarksburg from Lowndes Hill (wide-angle photograph), 1914.


Rider, Bennett, Photograph of Clarksburg from Pinnickinnick Hill, c. 1863.


Shelton, Joseph and John George Jackson, "Survey of the Town of Clarksburg, Virginia, 1787," Harrison County Historical Society.
10. VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION AND JUSTIFICATION

The Quality Hill Historic District is linear in shape, running from the East Main Street Bridge across Elk Creek at the western end to the Goff Plaza Bridge, which also crosses Elk Creek, at the eastern end. Nearly all the buildings face directly on East Main Street. The area is located between the town's primary commercial district on the west and a newer (1920-1960) residential neighborhood on the east. It is surrounded on three sides (east, south and west) by Elk Creek, which meanders around the base of the hill on which the district is located, making a loop, and is bounded on the final, north, side by Pike Street, the former route of the Northwestern Turnpike.

Beginning at a point at the intersections of the center lines of Main Street, Elm Street, and Philippi Street; thence south following the center line of Elm Street to a point opposite to the rear (southerly) property line of Parcel 45, an approximate distance of 210 feet; thence west along the rear (southerly) property lines of Parcels 44, 43, 42, 41 to the center line of the alley running parallel to Carr Avenue, an approximate distance of 350 feet; thence north along the center line of the alley an approximate distance of 20 feet to a point; thence west along the rear (southerly) property lines of Parcels 40 and 39 to a point on the edge of the right of way of Carr Avenue an approximate distance of 170 feet; thence southwest towards the southeast corner of Parcel 38 to the opposite edge of the Carr Avenue right of way an approximate distance of 35 feet; thence west along the rear (southerly) property line of Parcel 36, an approximate distance of 80 feet; thence south along the easterly property line of Parcel 36 to the southeast corner of the property a distance of approximately 50 feet; thence west along the rear (southerly) property line of Parcel 33 then continuing across Clay Street then continuing across the rear (southerly) property line of Parcel 32 to the southwest corner of Parcel 32, an approximate distance of 185 feet; thence south along the center line of Maple Avenue an approximate distance of 70 feet to a point; thence west on a line with the rear (southerly) property line with Parcels 29 and 28 to the southeast corner of Parcel 28, an approximate distance of 170 feet; thence north along the westerly property line of Parcel 28 continuing to the center line of Main Street, a distance of approximately 240 feet; thence east along the center line of Main Street to a point along the center line a distance of
approximately 125 feet; thence north on a line with the westerly property line of Parcel 476 to the northwest corner of said parcel an approximate distance of 235 feet; thence east along the rear (northerly) property line of Parcels 476 and 477 and continuing to the center line of Maple Avenue, an approximate distance of 150 feet; thence south along the center line of Maple Avenue to the intersection of the center line of Maple Avenue with that of Corral Alley, an approximate distance of 80 feet; thence east along the center line of Corral Alley continuing across South Park Avenue then continuing along the center line of Corral Alley then continuing along a straight line across Parcel 474 to the center line of South Oak Avenue a distance of 940 feet more or less; thence south along the center line of South Oak Avenue a distance of approximately 105 feet to a point; thence east on a line with the northerly property line of Parcel 501 to the northeast corner of said parcel a distance of approximately 130 feet; thence north along the westerly line of Parcel 502 to said parcel's northwest corner an approximate distance of 40 feet; thence east along the rear (northerly) property lines of Parcels 502 and 503 to the northeast corner of Parcel 503 an approximate distance of 120 feet; thence south along the easterly property line of Parcel 503 to the property corner where Philippi Street intersects with Terra Cotta Street, a distance of approximately 40 feet; thence southeast on a line parallel to the northeast wall of the Clarksburg Fire Department Building No. 2 to the bank of Elk Creek a distance of approximately 120 feet; thence south along the bank of Elk Creek to the center line of Main Street an approximate distance of 140 feet; thence northwest along the center line of Main Street, an approximate distance of 70 feet to the intersection of the center lines of Main Street, Philippi Street and Elm Street, the point of beginning.
Mapped, edited, and published by the Geological Survey

Control by USGS and USC&GS

Topography from aerial photographs by photogrammetric methods
Aerial photographs taken 1955. Field check 1958

Polyconic projection. 1927 North American datum
10,000-foot grid based on West Virginia coordinate system, north zone
1000-meter Universal Transverse Mercator grid ticks,
zone 17, shown in blue

Red tint indicates areas in which only landmark buildings are shown
Fine red dashed lines indicate selected fence and field lines
visible on aerial photographs. This information is unchecked
Unlabelled wells are gas wells
Unchecked elevations are shown in brown